Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review





journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/semcancer

Focal photodynamic intracellular acidification as a cancer therapeutic



Matthew J. Gdovin*, Nuha Kadri, Lourdes Rios, Steven Holliday, Zachary Jordan

The University of Texas at San Antonio, Department of Biology, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 January 2017 Received in revised form 3 February 2017 Accepted 8 February 2017 Available online 12 February 2017

Keywords: Nitrobenzaldehyde Cancer pH regulation

ABSTRACT

Cancer cells utilize an array of proton transporters to regulate intra- and extracellular pH to thrive in hypoxic conditions, and to increase tumor growth and metastasis. Efforts to target many of the transporters involved in cancer cell pH regulation have yielded promising results, however, many productive attempts to disrupt pH regulation appear to be non-specific to cancer cells, and more effective in some cancer cells than others. Following a review of the status of photodynamic cancer therapy, a novel light-activated process is presented which creates very focal, rapid, and significant decreases in only intracellular pH (pHi), leading to cell death. The light-activation of the H⁺ carrier, nitrobenzaldehyde, has been effective at initiating pH-induced apoptosis in non-cancerous and numerous cancerous cell lines *in vitro*, to include breast, prostate, and pancreatic cancers. Also, this intracellular acidification technique caused significant reductions in tumor growth rate and enhanced survival in mice bearing triple negative breast cancer tumors. The efficacy of an NBA-upconverting nanoparticle to kill breast cancer cells *in vitro* is described, as well as a discussion of the potential intracellular mechanisms underlying the pH-induced apoptosis.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 148
2.	pH regulation in cancer	.148
3.	Manipulation of pH regulatory proteins	. 148
	3.1. Monocarboxylate transporters	. 148
	3.2. NHE1	. 148
	3.3. V-ATPase	. 148
4.	Photodynamic therapy (PDT) as a cancer therapeutic	. 149
5.	Light-activated intracellular acidification	
6.	Fluorescence ratio recordings of changes in pHi	.150
7.	NBA photolysis decreases pHi	.150
8.	Quantification of cell death	
9.	MCF-7 cell death in response to light-activated intracellular acidosis	. 150
10.	Light-activated NBA cell death is not cancer specific	.151
11.	Light-activated NBA reduces tumor growth and promotes survival <i>in vivo</i>	. 151
12.	Upconverting NBA nanoparticle	. 152
13.	PHi-dependent mechanisms of cell death	. 153
14.	Conclusion	
	Conflict of interest	.154
	Acknowledgement	. 154
	References	.154

Abbreviations: NBA, nitrobenzaldehyde; PDT, photodynamic therapy. * Corresponding author.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.02.005 1044-579X/© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

E-mail address: matthew.gdovin@utsa.edu (M.J. Gdovin).

1. Introduction

Increased screening and earlier detection of cancers, and advances in surgical and radiation oncology have resulted in an increase in the overall 5-year survival rates for cancers in the United States to 66%, compared just over 50% in 1990 [1]. Targeted therapeutics also play a role in the improved outcomes for cancer patients, as these treatments are developed to exploit a precise characteristic of cancers. Trastuzumab successfully targets the increased expression of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER-2) in breast and stomach cancer, reducing the growth of these cancers. Additional targeted therapies include signal transduction inhibitors, angiogenesis inhibitors, immunotherapies, gene expression modulators, and apoptosis inducers. The precision of the targeted therapy approach is attractive and has been successful for given cancers in a subset of patients. However, only recently has attention been directed towards therapeutics which address a characteristic common to all cancers, namely the importance of extra- and intracellular pH regulation.

2. pH regulation in cancer

Cancer cells utilize glycolysis for energy, therefore cancer cells produce extraordinary lactate and H⁺ levels. In spite of this increased intracellular H⁺ production, cancer cells have been reported to have an intracellular pH that is relatively more alkaline (pH7.12–7.24) compared to non-cancerous cells (pH6.99–7.05) [2]. In order to maintain an acidic extracellular environment and alkaline intracellular pH (pHi), many cancer cells exhibit an increase in the expression and activation of pH regulatory proteins. It is well known that an acidic extracellular tumor microenvironment facilitates tumor aggressiveness, migration and metastasis [3-7], chemoresistance [8], and vascular endothelial growth factormediated angiogenesis [5]. Cancer cells have multiple mechanisms to regulate both intracellular pH (pHi) and extracellular pH (pHe), maintaining a slightly alkaline pHi and acidic pHe with respect to non-cancerous cells [2]. The monocarboxylate transporters (MCT), vacuolar-type H⁺-adenosine triphosphatase (V-ATPase), and sodium hydrogen exchangers (NHE), which directly transport H⁺ from the intracellular to extracellular space are ideal candidate targets to disrupt pH dynamics in cancer.

3. Manipulation of pH regulatory proteins

Several studies implicate pH regulation by cancer cells in both cancer cell migration and metastases, and have proposed manipulation of pH regulatory proteins as candidate therapeutics for human cancers. Knockdown of the MCT4 transporter *via* siRNA lead to reduced migration of human retinal pigment epithelial cells (ARPE-19) and canine epithelial cells (MDCK) [9]. The knockdown of the MCT4 transporter in human breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231) [9] or the inhibition of NHE1 in MDCK cells [10] resulted in reduced invasion, and migration, respectively. Decreased invasion and metastases in response to the disruption of pH regulation *via* the V-ATPase has been reported in triple negative breast cancer cells [11] and B16 melanoma cells [12]. A matrix metallopeptidase 9-dependent decrease in pancreatic cancer cell invasion was observed in response to siRNA knockdown of V-ATPase [13].

3.1. Monocarboxylate transporters

Monocarboxylate transporters are part of the 14-member solute carrier family, however only MCT 1–4 facilitate proton-linked monocarboxylate transport. The rapid transport of pyruvate, lactate, and ketone bodies across the plasma membrane is coupled to the proton-linked MCTs 1–4. The net influx or efflux of monocarboxylates is solely determined by the concentration gradients of protons and monocarboxylates across the membrane of the cell. Decreases in pHi, and subsequent disruption of cancer growth have been achieved by manipulation of the intracellular pHi regulators, MCT1-4, NHE1, and V-ATPase. Gerlinger et al., [14] reported that siRNA knockdown of the MCT-4 resulted in an intracellular acidosis of 0.20 and 0.25 pH units, decreased cellular ATP levels, and 42% decrease in cell proliferation in six of eight clear cell renal carcinoma cell lines. While MCT1 is expressed ubiquitously in normal tissue, it is also highly expressed, along with MCT2 and MCT4 in gastrointestinal tumors [15] and colorectal cancer [16].

3.2. NHE1

NHE1 is ubiquitously expressed in normal tissue and is upregulated in response to hypoxia [17] and intracellular superoxide concentrations [18]. In spite of its systemic expression, targeting NHE1 to induce intracellular acidosis has proven useful in vitro. The ammonium chloride prepulse technique was used to induce an intracellular acidosis to approximately pH 6.3 in one rat and three human malignant glioma cell lines (C6, U-87, U-118, and U-251); all cell lines were capable of recovering from this intracellular acidosis, however, these same glioma cells exhibited a significant, prolonged intracellular acidification in response to bath application of amiloride, an NHE1 blocker [19]. Li et al., [20] reported intracellular acidification to a pHi of 6.86 in drug-resistant small cell lung cancer cells in response to NHE1 antisense treatment, which was significantly lower than the empty vector control pHi of 7.25. More importantly, these transfected cells exhibited significant decreases in cell proliferation, and a $12.18 \pm 1.86\%$ increases in caspase-3 mediated apoptosis 48 h after transfection, compared to only $2.37 \pm 0.33\%$ apoptosis control cells.

3.3. V-ATPase

The movement of protons across the membrane of intracellular organelles, such as endosomes, Gogli complex, lysosomes, and the plasma membrane due to the actions of the V-ATPase enzyme, result in organelle and extracellular acidity, respectively. The V-ATPase couple's proton transport to ATP hydrolysis, and is found in many eukaryotic cell types, plants, and fungi [21]. Because V-ATPases play a significant role in acidification and degradation of the extra-tumoral space, facilitating the invasion of malignant cells, the V-ATPase is an attractive target to disrupt pH dynamics in cancer. In addition, this multi-subunit protein is upregulated in pancreatic cancer [22], and is upregulated on the plasma membrane of the highly aggressive triple negative breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231, while it is not located on the cell surface of the less aggressive MCF-7 breast cancer cell. Small interfering RNAs specific to each the of four isoforms of the subunit of the V-ATPase were used to quantify the role of these isoforms on cancer invasiveness and cytosolic and endosomal pH on MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 breast cancer cell lines [11]. Only the knockdown of the a3 isoform lead to decreased cytosolic pH, whereas siRNAs to a3 and a4 significantly inhibited invasiveness in MDA-MB-231 cells [11]. Overexpression of the V-ATPase 16kDa subunit enhanced invasiveness and matrix metalloproteinases, responsible for degrading extracellular matrix proteins, in mouse fibroblasts, whereas transfection of these mouse fibroblast with antisense oligonucleotides of the 16 kDa subunit of V-ATPase decreased both invasiveness and production of matrix metalloproteinases [23].

The ability to alter or disrupt the pH dynamics, alkaline pHi and acidic pHe, *via* MCTs, NHE1, or V-ATPase provides researchers and clinicians with the potential to reduce cancer growth, invasiveness and metastases, resistance to basic chemotherapeutics, and angiogenesis while increasing the rate of apoptosis. While the advances described above provide insight into the potential benefits of developing treatments that can disrupt pHi regulation in cancer, other pH regulatory processes, such as carbonic anhydrases, chloridebicarbonate transporters, and voltage-gated proton channels may also offer therapeutic potential. Although the disruption of pHi regulation *via* the MCTs, NHE1, or V-ATPase appear to be somewhat cancer specific, there does not appear to be a viable approach to altering pHi regulation that can decrease pHi and produce cancer cell death across virtually any cancer. Light-activated intracellular acidosis is a viable candidate technique to produce pH-induced cell death in any cancerous tissue.

4. Photodynamic therapy (PDT) as a cancer therapeutic

The current approach of PDT in cancer therapy has principally utilized the release of high levels of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) to inhibit tumor growth. The use of ROS PDT is often palliative [24] or applicable in limited indications in cancer therapy, such as bile duct cancer, precancerous Barrett's esophagus, non-small cell lung cancer, and bladder cancer. Cancer cells express elevated ROS, but these cancer cells also have increased expression of antioxidant proteins to prevent these higher ROS levels from damaging the cancer cell. Unfortunately, porphyrins may also enter nearby healthy tissue, creating unintended ROS damage as an undesired side effect. In addition to damaging healthy cells, increasing ROS outside of the tumor is potentially tumorigenic and may promote tumorigenesis in nearby, non-cancerous cells. While high levels of ROS can cause apoptosis, low levels of ROS facilitate cancer cell survival [25], therefore using ROS as an anti-cancer therapy requires a delicate balance of ROS levels. Other limitations of ROS PDT include skin and eye sensitivity lasting up to 6 weeks after treatment, burns, swelling, pain, and scarring of nearby tissue [26]. More serious concerns regarding the use of ROS as an anti-cancer therapy treatment involve the harmful effects of low doses of ROS in promoting cell proliferation [27], metastasis [28], and angiogenesis [29] at the tumor site. ROS-regulated Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) was required for inducing angiogenesis in ovarian and prostate cancer cells [30], and VEGF expression is increased during cancer cell nutrient deprivation and hypoxia [31], both which increase intracellular levels of ROS.

Administration of exogenous 5- aminolaevulinic acid (ALA) leads to an increase of protoporphyrin IX (PpIX) [32], a ROS photosensitizer, and was used as part of a fluorescence-guided resection of brain tumors. ALA-induced PpIX was used to perform a fluorescence-guided resection, allowing 63% of patients to receive complete resection through this method compared to 36% of patients that received white light resection. The trial was terminated when analysis revealed that while ALA patient progression-free survival was significantly higher than white light patients at 6 months, both treatments groups drop to less than 10% survival at the 15-month mark [24].

The relatively infrequent and effective use of ROS PDT may stem from the fact that many chemotherapeutic strategies are designed to increase intracellular ROS levels to induce irreparable damage that results in tumor cell apoptosis, thereby eliminating the need for ROS PDT. In addition, many solid tumors are severely hypoxic, thereby rendering ROS therapy relatively limited in its efficacy. One significant difference between our light-activated intracellular acidosis method and traditional ROS PDT is that our technique induces an oxygen-independent intracellular acidosis, exploiting the effects of an acute drop in pHi rather than the generation of ROS. Unlike ROS-mediated chemotherapeutics, there are few chemotherapeutic agents that can selectively cause decreases in pHi in a safe manner. The amiloride-based drugs alter pHi by block-



Fig. 1. (A) Optical recording of the ratio of DCFDA fluorescence converted to pHi from an individual PC12 cell loaded with NBA in response to 4 consecutive exposures to UV light (350 nm, 30 s). (B) UV photo activation of NBA (350 nm, 2.5 min) induced a significant reduction in pHi (delta pHi) in PC12 cells (n=421) loaded with NBA before (pre) and after (post) UV light activation.

ing the sodium/hydrogen exchanger 1 (NHE1). This blockage leads to the accumulation of intracellular H⁺ and subsequent pH-induced apoptosis. Unfortunately, the NHE1 is found virtually on every cell in the body and its blockage by amiloride is the basis for many of the unwanted side effects of amiloride-based chemotherapy. While light-activated acidosis appears to initiate an intrinsic apoptotic pathway, it appears to do so independent of cell cycle progression. As noted in Leon et al. [33] "the development of small molecules that act independently of cell cycle progression to engage nonapoptotic cell death mechanisms offers a particularly attractive approach to thwart tumor progression".

5. Light-activated intracellular acidification

We recently developed a technique to use photo activation of a caged H⁺ carrier, o-nitrobenzaldehyde (NBA), to cause significant reductions in only pHi. NBA passively diffuses through the cellular membrane and becomes trapped due to the slight positive charge on the molecule. Once inside the cell, NBA is capable of remaining inactive and intact until excited by UV light (200 nm to 410 nm) [34]. NBA is a photo activated molecule capable of immediately releasing a proton upon exposure to ultraviolet (UV) to near-visible light (400-410 nm), leading to decreases only in pHi when extracellular NBA is removed (Fig. 1A). Due to the ease of entry into the cell, the tendency of the molecule to remain inside of the cell, the nontoxic nature of the molecule, and the instant acidification upon exposure to UV light, light-activation of NBA is an ideal mechanism for disruption of pHi. The fast, focal disruption of pHi regulation in cancer cells is an untapped method of cancer treatment that holds great potential as an alternative to chemotherapy and radiation. In addition, cell death via photo activation of NBA does not appear to

be "cancer-specific" and can be used in treating a myriad of cancers, including multi-drug resistant (MDR) cancers.

The ability to employ photo activation of NBA to cause significant decreases in pHi (Fig. 1 B) has profound implications in cancer research. Cardone et al., [35] stated that our understanding of how increased pHi and lower extracellular pH facilitates tumor proliferation and invasiveness may lead to new targets for cancer therapy, and that "compounds that selectively decrease pHi would also be of great interest, although it may be difficult to achieve this effect only in cancer cells". Our research approach overcomes this barrier to selectively acidify the intracellular space of cancer cells which only receive NBA and light, and offers the hope of transforming both basic research and clinical practices involving cancer therapeutics.

Effective concentrations of intracellular NBA required to induce significant intracellular acidosis and subsequent cell death are not cytotoxic and do not disrupt cellular function. Kohse et al. [36] photo activated the enzyme acid phosphatase from pH 8.0-6.0 by the activation of a pH jump using flash photolysis of NBA and did not report any degradation of enzyme function as result of exposure to NBA. Flash photolysis of NBA to reduce pHi of rat ventricular myocytes [37] did not alter the H⁺ buffer capacity of these cells. More importantly, in the absence of UV exposure, NBA (1 mM) did not alter diastolic Ca2+, cellular contraction, or "the mechanisms of spatial pHi regulation" [37]. We recently loaded the entire in vitro tadpole brainstem with 10 µM NBA and observed no disruption in the spontaneous, fictive respiratory motor output or central respiratory chemoreceptor responses, indicating that at this concentration, NBA does not exert cytotoxic effects on cells which compose the respiratory neural circuits [38].

6. Fluorescence ratio recordings of changes in pHi

Our desire to pursue this compartmentalized pH reduction technique as a viable cancer therapeutic began with validation of the effectiveness of pH-induced apoptosis on non-cancerous rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells. In order to quantify changes in pHi induced by photolysis of NBA, Jordan et al., [39] performed optical recordings of pHi using the ratiometric, pH-sensitive fluorophore 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCFDA), as this technique permits the quantification of dynamic, real-time changes in pHi. A calibration curve was first generated, which permitted the conversion of DCFDA emitted fluorescence ratio to pHi. PC12 cells were loaded with the pH-sensitive dye Carboxy-DCFDA (10 µM in rat aCSF). Nigericin was titrated to a pH of 2.0, 4.0, 5.0, 6.0, 7.0 or 8.0. The emitted fluorescence of DCFDA was recorded from cells at each of the titrated pH solutions. The ratiometric emitted fluorescence intensity was observed at an excitation of 495 nm/440 nm on 30s intervals until emitted fluorescence (504/530 nm) reach a steady state. Each ratio from individual cells (n = 421) was recorded for each pH. A curve of best fit was created ($R^2 = 93.02$) and used for the conversion of fluorescence to pHi. Calibration curves for both PC12 cells and MCF-7 breast cancer cells were generated using this nigericin technique.

7. NBA photolysis decreases pHi

Jordan et al., [39] reported the mean optical recordings of pHi from PC12 cells (n = 421) loaded with 10 μ M DCFDA and 1 mM NBA before (7.55 pHi) and after (6.37 pHi) flash photolysis. We were able to induce a significant acidosis (P<0.01) in response to flash photolysis of NBA (350 nm light for 2.5 min) [39]. The mean change in pHi (Δ pHi) was 1.18 pH units. These data support our abilities to (1) optically record valid pHi measurements, and (2) quantify the pHi decreases associated with the uncaging of H⁺ from NBA. Flash photolysis of NBA produced similar reductions in DCFDA ratios in

the breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231, prostate cancer cell lines 22RV-1 and LNCap, and the pancreatic cancer cell line BxPC3. The ability to utilize photolysis of NBA to induce significant, rapid, and sustained decreases in pHi which these cancers cannot mount a pH regulatory response to, reinforces the potential to further develop NBA photodynamic therapy as a non-cancer specific modality to treat virtually any cancer.

8. Quantification of cell death

After exposing NBA-containing cells to UV light, the presence of cellular blebs was observed and recordings of the pH in the intrablebular inflationary space (pH_b) were acquired using the emitted ratio of DCFDA fluorescence. The blebs visualized with DCFDA fluorescence showed continuous expansion which never reduced in size. We quantified the unretracted blebs as cellular death based on previously published findings which described all unretracted blebbing was an indication of an irreversible death process [40]. In addition, one hour after the UV flash paradigm to induce intracellular acidosis, the cells were lightly washed and the media was replaced with the phosphatidylserine indicator Annexin V Alexa Fluor 568 (488 nm). Cell death was quantified as either the presence of an unretracted bleb and the expression of Annexin V fluorescence.

9. MCF-7 cell death in response to light-activated intracellular acidosis

After focal acidification was achieved in MCF-7 cells, Annexin V Alexa Fluor 568 was bath applied to mark for phosphatidylserine membrane inversion resulting from and indicative of apoptosis. The cells were monitored for at least 1 h after flash photolysis in the presence of NBA for fluorescence which would indicate apoptosis. MCF-7 cells were also observed to exhibit cellular blebbing (Fig. 2) upon focal intracellular acidification and did not exhibit fluorescence in the presence of Annexin V Alexa Fluor 568 until the bleb completely separated from the cell or after several hours (1–6 h) post treatment. As previously discussed, research indicated that unretracted blebbing was indicative of apoptosis [40]. The number of blebs was counted upon formation as a function of time as another indication of cell death. While previous research indicates that upon activation of the sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX1) there is often a reduction in the size of the bleb [41], we did not observe any reductions in the occurrence or size of blebs over time in response to our NBA-UV treatment. Jordan et al., [39] reported significant apoptosis in both PC12 and MCF-7 cells, as indicated by cellular blebbing or apoptosis via fluorescence of Annexin V, in response to intracellular acidification via photolysis of NBA. Apoptosis was observed in 85% of PC12 (n = 362; $R^2 = 0.98$) within two hours after intracellular acidification. MCF-7 cell apoptosis ranged from 94.9 to 100.0% (n = 262; $R^2 = 0.92$) with an average apoptosis over a two-hour time period of $98.3 \pm 0.3\%$ (Fig. 2C; [39]). Linear regression analysis revealed a significant decrease (P<0.01) the percentage of apoptosis for MCF-7 cells exposed to only UV light (7.1%) over 2 hours. The percentage of apoptosis observed in MCF-7 cells exposed only to NBA (2.3%, n = 236, R2 = 0.87) was significantly less (P<0.0001) than the percentage of apoptosis in MCF-7 cell treated with NBA and UV light. Our control experiment to evaluate the percentage of apoptosis in response to time alone (n = 20)revealed no apoptosis over 2 hours. As our results produced no cell death what so ever, linear regression was not performed.





Fig. 2. DCFDA emitted fluorescence from MCF-7 breast cancer cells before (A) and after (B) NBA photodynamic treatment. Note the presence of cellular blebs following intracellular acidification (C) Mean \pm SD MCF-7 cell death following 2.5 min of NBA PDT (time 0; from Jordan et al., [40]).

10. Light-activated NBA cell death is not cancer specific

To test the hypothesis that light-activated NBA represents a noncancer cell specific treatment, several types of cancer cell lines and the non-cancerous PC12 cell line were incubated with DCFDA and NBA. Exposure to the cell resulted in a decrease in DCFDA ratio which was consistent with a rapid decrease in pHi. Using the PC12 calibration curve, we calculated a decrease in pHi in PC12 cells of 1.18 pH units (Fig. 1B). Based upon the emitted DCFDA fluorescence ratio (Rfl), we observed in 4 cancer cell lines, changes in ratio before and after NBA flash photolysis which were not substantially different from the decreases in ratio observed in PC12 cells



Fig. 3. (A) The pre-flash, post-flash, and change in ratio of the DCFDA emitted fluorescence four cancer cell lines. These values were not substantially different from similar DCFDA ratios recorded in PC12 and MCF-7 cells. *Indicates significantly different from the pre-flash value. (B) percent cell death over time in response to NBA light-activated intracellular acidosis in PC12, MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, 22Rv1, LNCaP, and BxPC3 cell lines.

(Fig. 3A). Based upon the PC12 calibration formula, we observed decreases in pHi in response to photo activation of NBA in MDA-MB-231 of 0.67 pH units (n = 34). LNCaP cells decreased pHi by 0.80 pH units (n = 107). BxPC3 cells decreased by 1.46 pH units (n = 62), and 22Rv1 cells decreased pHi by 0.77 pH units (n=22). Preliminary data reveal that the decreases in pHi associated with photolysis of NBA were immediately followed by increases in unretracted cellular blebs and rupture of the cell membrane (Fig. 3B). Cell death was rapid in all 4 cancer cell lines, with the greatest rate of cell death in the BxPC-3 cancer cell line, which experienced the greatest intracellular acidification. These data support that the photolysis of NBA within cells produces a focal and significant intracellular acidification, followed by a reliable pattern of cell death. The ability to produce a significant, rapid reduction in pHi appears to induce apoptosis, regardless of whether the target cell is a non-cancerous PC12 cell or a cancerous cell line as reported above.

11. Light-activated NBA reduces tumor growth and promotes survival *in vivo*

We have recently conducted preliminary *in vivo* experiments to determine the efficacy of intratumoral acidosis on tumor growth. Four-week-old female nude mice were injected with MDA-MB-231 cells into the mammary fat pad. All animals were sacrificed when humane endpoints were reached, as defined by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at The University of Texas at San Antonio. Tumor growth was monitored daily, and upon the tumor reaching 5 mm in length, we treated animals with either an aCSF injection (Controls, n=4) or 1 mM NBA followed by photo activation of intratumoral NBA using a 200 μ M fiber optic can-



Fig. 4. MDA-MB-231 breast cancer tumors in nude mice (A) five days after control injection of aCSF, or (B) three days after a one-time treatment of NBA and light-activated intracelluar acidosis. The change in tumor volume (mean \pm SEM) following treatment (aCSF control, n = 4, Single treatment NBA with photo activation, n = 5, and Multiple treatment) over a 40-day period. The single NBA with photo activation treatment on day 0 resulted in a significant (P < 0.05) reduction in tumor volume (*) for 14 days when compared to the control treatment.

nula (405 nm, 85 mW for 2.5 min; n = 5). Control treated animals exhibited rapid and continued tumor growth (Fig. 4A) over time, as illustrated in Fig. 4C. Our single injection of NBA and one-time photo activation resulted in a significant reduction in both tumor volume (mm³) and the percent change in tumor volume following treatment (Fig. 4B and C). The one-time treatment with photo activated NBA resulted in a significant reduction of tumor growth for 14 days; thereafter tumors continued to grow. We also performed multiple NBA treatments on a single mouse, delivering an NBA injection and photo activation every 4–7 days. The multiple treatments of triple negative breast cancer resulted in a maintained decrease in tumor growth for over 40 days (Fig. 4C). The multiple NBA treated animal was sacrificed when modest tumor growth at day 37 migrated medially, compromising the animal's ability to swallow. Animal survival was significantly improved in the onetime NBA treated mice $(37.4 \pm 7.0 \text{ days})$ compared to the control animals (16.5 ± 1.6 days). With only one animal in the Multiple Treatment condition, we were unable to perform statistical analysis on the effects of the treatment on growth rate and survival time; however, these preliminary results provide a clear demonstration of the efficacy of photo activating NBA intratumorally to reduce tumor volume in an animal model.

12. Upconverting NBA nanoparticle

We have improved the ability to induce discrete decreases in pHi only to virtually any desirable pHi lower than the intrinsic pHi, and we have demonstrated that this effect is reproducible and highly effective at initiating significant pH-induced apoptosis *in vitro* (Fig. 3) and reductions in TNBC tumors *in vivo* (Fig. 4). We created an additional delivery system to cause pH-induced cancer cell death in the form of a photo-upconverting nanoparticle. Upon entry into the cancer cell, the nanoparticle is exposed to 980 nm near infrared light and absorbs this energy and quickly emits 350–400 nm light around the core of the particle, thereby releasing the H⁺ to the intracellular space.

Upconverting nanoparticles (UCNPs) are nanocrystalline mineral-phase particles doped with rare earth (RE³⁺) lanthanide ions. They use multi-photon upconversion fluorescence to emit visible and ultraviolet (UV) light upon stimulation with longerwavelength electromagnetic sources, such as near infrared (NIR) lasers. Recent improvements in the upconversion efficiency of tetrafluoride based UCNPs have yielded order-of-magnitude gains in blue-violet and UV luminescence [42-46]. Enhancement of such wavelengths further improves their utility in this application such as light harvesting to photolabile polymers and biomolecules [47]. The use of 980 nm diode sources provides the advantages of low cost, low photo-damage, low auto-fluorescence, high directionality, and deep penetration in biological tissues [47]. Nash and coworkers [48-50] have investigated the spectroscopic characteristics of RE³⁺ species in highly hydrophilic, tissue-like environments and demonstrated useful therapeutic windows for NIR therapies involving blood contact. Similar findings have been applied toward advancing the development of UCNPs for deep-



Fig. 5. The percentage of MCF-7 breast cancer cell death over time in response to photo activation (980 nm) of an upconverting NBA nanoparticle. Upconversion of the NBA nanoparticle produced 91.5% breast cancer cell death within 3 hours.

tissue biomedical imaging [51–55] and chemotherapy [56,57]. Our preliminary work employed a NaYF4 nanoparticle with 200 μ M polyethylene glycol (PEG) linked to NBA. These small particles (10–30 nm diameter) easily crossed the cell membrane of DCFDA loaded MCF-7 cancer cells. The 980 nm near infrared upconverting light (400 mW; 10 min) produced an intracellular acidosis and concomitant 91.5% cell death pattern (Fig. 5) which was virtually identical to our NBA and UV light paradigm described earlier (Fig. 2C).

This NBA upconverting nanoparticle may also be targeted to a specific receptor unique to cancer, or a receptor that is highly up-regulated in cancer. This nanoparticle delivery system has the potential to address a significant barrier currently facing the treatment of all tumors, specifically the ability to kill the tumor without damaging adjacent healthy tissue. Successfully developing an effective, targeted PDT upconverting nanoparticle that can cause significant, focal pH-induced apoptosis represents an improved method in the emerging field of PDT. The ability to systemically administer the cancer-specific targeted upconverting nanoparticle would permit virtually any cancer to be treated this technique, as the 980 nm light needed to activate the particle penetrates relatively deeply into human tissue.

13. PHi-dependent mechanisms of cell death

Alterations in intracellular pH have been reported to occur both during the initiation, as well as the progression of the apoptotic process [58], and intracellular acidification is an important component of the initiation phase of apoptosis [59,60]. The lightactivated intracellular acidification caused by photo activation of NBA is the initiating stimulus in our cancer cell death pathway. Studies that report decreases in pHi as potential initiators of apoptosis may provide much more insight into the potential cellular mechanisms of apoptosis, rather than studies which report decreases in pHi during the progression of apoptosis. The intrinsic intracellular apoptosis pathway involves the translocation of the pro-apoptotic protein Bax to the mitochondrial membrane, and the subsequent oligomerization of Bax to create a mitochondrial pore to release cytochrome c to the intracellular space. Increased intracellular levels of cytochrome c are the hallmark of both the caspase-8-dependent extrinsic and the caspase-9dependent intrinsic apoptosis, as well as caspase-independent cell death (CICD; for review see Tait and Green [61]). Further understanding of the potential mechanisms of rapid intracellular acidosis *via* the light-activation of NBA on cell death requires a review of studies which describe alterations in intracellular processes which were preceded by changes in pHi.

It is certainly possible that intracellular mechanisms in response to alterations of pHi vary within different cell types. For example, ATP depletion-induced apoptosis in tubular cells was reduced if the pH of the culture media was lowered from 7.0-7.4 to 6.0-6.5, and was associated with the inhibition of caspase activation, indicating that an alkaline pHi was responsible for the ATP deletion-induced apoptosis in renal tubule cells [62]. Importantly, Brooks et al., [62] reported that the decrease in media pH **did not prevent** Bax translocation, oligomerization to the mitochondrial membrane, and cytochrome c release. While their work concluded that the acidic pH blocked caspase-9 activation in the apoptosome, the acidity did not alter Bax-mediate cytochrome c release from the mitochondria. Khaled et al. [63] showed an increase in Bax activation of apoptosis after withdrawal of interleukin-7 in an IL-7 dependent cell line, and that this increase in Bax activation was preceded by a rise in pHi. Kahled et al. [63] argued that the increase in pHi caused a transformational change in Bax which induced translocation to the mitochondria and subsequent cytochrome c release. They proposed a model whereby at a neutral pH, the negative residues of Bax N-terminus could interact with the positive residues on the C-terminus, thereby concealing the hydrophobic transmembrane region, and that at an alkaline pHi would lead to "reduced attraction between the termini, exposing the membrane seeking region". When testing the effects of an acidic pHi on intracellular levels of Bax, Khaled et al. [63] found reduced Bax levels in the cytosol, "likely resulting from the effects of protein aggregation or activation of proteolytic digestion".

Decreases in pHi in many cell lines accelerate the initiation of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway. Silencing the MCT4 transporter in clear cell renal carcinoma resulted in significant decreases in pHi of approximately 0.2–0.25 pH units, and decreases in cell proliferation [14]. Decreases in pHi (magnitude) have been shown to increase caspase activation 2–3 fold. Matsuyama et al. [60] report the induction of apoptosis in approximately 50% Jurkat T-cell leukemia cells within two hours of exposure to the apoptosis inducer staurosporine, ultraviolet light, or anti-Fas antibodies. Staurosporine application leads to an increase in mitochondrial matrix pH and a concomitant decrease in cytosolic pHi, increases in cytosolic cytochrome c, caspase activation, and apoptosis, which was inhibited by application of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2. Overexpression of Bax in the 293T cell line caused apoptosis within 8-10h of transfection and resulted in a similar mitochondrial matrix alkalinization and cytosolic acidification. The cytochrome c-stimulated caspase activation initiated by staurosporine or transfection of Bax were pH sensitive, with a 3-4-fold increase at pHi 7.1 compared to the control pHi of 7.4. The efficiency of cytochrome c activation of caspases was pH-sensitive, with an optimum pHi of 6.3-6.8 in vitro [60]. Matsuyama et al. [60] concluded that Baxinduced changes in mitochondrial and cytosolic pH are a very early event in mitochondria-dependent apoptosis and that the decreases in pHi regulate caspase activation in the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis.

Somatostatin receptor-mediated cytotoxic signaling triggers intracellular acidification and subsequent apoptosis in MCF-7 and T47D breast cancer cell lines and clamping pHi prevents apoptosis [64–66]. Liu et al. [59] reported that decreases in pHi and mitochondrial dysfunction in MCF-7 breast cancer cells exposed to somatostatin-induced apoptosis is preceded by caspase-8. Furthermore, they conclude that intracellular acidification is an early initiator of the apoptotic process and that mitochondrial dysfunction and activation of the effector caspases 3–7 and 11–13 occur only in response to decreases in pHi [59].

Khaled et al. [63] described conformational changes in Bax structure in response to intracellular alkalosis which promoted translocation, oligomerization, and insertion of Bax into the mitochondrial membrane. Tafani et al. [67] described intracellular acidosis occurring in HeLa cells in response to exposure to tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and that the TNF-induced decrease in pHi produced conformational changes in Bax similar to those conformational changes associated with alkalosis, and that these changes in Bax conformation and subsequent translocation to the mitochondria is directly influenced by pHi. Mutagenesis of Bax revealed that both positively and negatively charged amino acids contribute to the pH dependence of Bax conformation [63]. Thus, a sufficiently acidic intracellular pH also should alter Bax conformation in a manner similar to the conformational changes associated with alkalinization, increasing the insertion of Bax to the mitochondrial membrane, cytochrome c release, and caspase-mediated apoptosis.

Our light-activated intracellular acidosis produces significant cell death across multiple cell types in a similar pattern of death: (1) a very rapid onset of membrane blebbing; (2) Annexin V expression; and (3) a high percentage of cell death. While we have just begun to quantify intracellular mechanisms, each of these characteristics associated with light-activated intracellular acidosis are consistent with Bax-mediated apoptosis. As described above, we propose that the rapid creation of an acidic intracellular space causes a rapid translocation of Bax to the mitochondrial membrane and the subsequent release of cytochrome c. At this point, we cannot exclude the possibility that our light-activated intracellular acidosis technique is also initiating caspase-independent cell death.

14. Conclusion

There is a great, unmet need in the field of cancer treatment for those patients that cannot receive effective treatments or for patients who wish to keep invasive interventions at a minimum. Reducing tumor volume in cancer patients prior to surgical resection, via chemotherapeutics and radiation, represents a current standard of care that often results in less scarring and complications, and increases the likelihood of removing the tumor in its entirety, leaving clean margins. For example, reduction of tumor volume is especially important in breast cancer patients that wish to have breast conservation surgery and retention of breast function. Unfortunately, both chemotherapy and radiation present the patient with debilitating systemic side effects, such as hair loss, weakness, anorexia, gastrointestinal discomfort, and dysfunctional lymph drainage. In addition to the drawbacks of chemotherapies and radiation, comorbidity often excludes patients as candidates for chemotherapy and/or radiation prior to surgical resection. While surgical resection of a local tumor often has the potential to be "curative," surgery is often eliminated as a viable treatment due to patient co-morbidity. Furthermore, surgery may not be a viable treatment option if the tumor is located on or near vital structures or structures that if impaired, may have a significant impact on quality of life (*i.e.* colon resection). Like surgery, radiation therapy may offer many patients an effective cancer treatment, however radiation is often discontinued when patients reach the maximum radiation dosage. Radiation therapy may not be successful in all tumor types and has long term side effects such as radiation induced tissue damage and secondary malignancies.

Attempts to reduce intracellular pH within tumor cells has been fraught with disappointing results. Amiloride-based chemotherapeutic drugs block acid extrusion from cells, and while this chemotherapeutic approach has been successful in reducing pH within cancer cells, the target of these drugs are found in virtually every cell in the body, leading to devastating systemic side effects. The innovation of producing intracellular acidosis in cancer cells may be further developed as a valuable tool to reduce tumor volume of any tumor type in a precise manner while reducing the side-effect burden to the patient. Application of light-activated intracellular acidosis technology caused significant cell death in both non-cancerous and cancerous cell lines *in vitro*, and when applied in mice, resulted in significant reductions of triple negative breast cancer tumor growth with *no physical or behavioral side effects* to the animals. Light-activated acidosis produces a rapid and focal intracellular acidosis that cancer cells do not appear to be able to overcome. Evidence exists which supports that the acidosis causes a conformational change in the pro-apoptotic protein Bax, which initiates the intrinsic apoptotic cell death pathway, however, other pathways may be involved in the cell death associated with the decreases in pHi associated with this technology.

Light-activated intracellular acidosis via the uncaging of H⁺ from NBA produces a rapid, precise, and significant reduction in pHi and concomitant significant cell death. Data indicate that light-activated intracellular acidosis does not appear to be cancer specific, as all cells, including non-cancerous cells, are subject to the profound dysfunction of pHi and cell death associated with this technology. The light-activation of NBA within triple negative breast cancer in vivo also demonstrates its potential as a viable therapeutic in humans. Based on the efficacy and proposed mechanism of action on inducing cancer cell death, light-activated intracellular acidosis may also be effective in causing apoptosis in multi-drug resistant cancers. Further development of this intracellular acidification technique may offer therapeutic value to both surgeons and patients, as the acidification treatment can reduce tumor volume without systemic side effects or unwanted damage to surrounding healthy tissue.

Conflict of interest

None.

Acknowledgement

This research was supported by the University of Texas at San Antonio Office of Commercialization and Innovation, the College of Sciences, and the Department of Biology.

References

- M. Aitken, M. Kleinrock, IMS Institute for Healtcare and Informatics 1–42 (2015).
- [2] B. Hubesch, D. Sappey-Marinier, K. Roth, D.J. Meyerhoff, G.B. Matson, M.W. Weiner, P-31 MR spectroscopy of normal human brain and brain tumors, Radiology 174 (1990) 401–409.
- [3] S.R. Amith, L. Fliegel, Regulation of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE1) in breast cancer metastasis, Cancer Res. 73 (2013) OF1–OF6.
- [4] J.J. Provost, M.A. Wallert, Inside out: targeting NHE1 as an intracellular and extracellular regulator of cancer progression, Chem. Biol. Drug Des. 81 (2013) 85–101.
- [5] L. Xu, D. Fukumura, R.K. Jain, Acidic extracellular pH induces vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in human glioblastoma cells via ERK1/2 MAPK signaling pathway, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 11368–11374.
- [6] M.F. McCarty, J. Whitaker, Manipulating tumor acidification as a cancer treatment strategy, Altern. Med. Rev. 15 (2010) 264–272.
- [7] S.K. Parks, J. Chiche, J. Pouysségur, Disrupting proton dynamics and energy metabolism for cancer therapy, Nat. Rev. Cancer 13 (2013) 611–623.
- [8] U.M. Acuna, J. Wittwer, S. Ayers, C.J. Pearce, N.H. Oberlies, E.J.C. de Blanco, Effects of (5Z)-7-oxozeaenol on MDA-MB-231 Breast cancer cells, Anticancer Res. 32 (2012) 2415–2421.
- [9] S.M. Gallagher, J.J. Castorino, N.J. Philp, Interaction of monocarboxylate transporter 4 with beta(1)-integrin and its role in cell migration, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 296 (2009) C414–C421.
- [10] M. Klein, P. Seeger, B. Schuricht, S.L. Alper, A. Schwab, Polarization of Na(+)/H(+) and Cl (-)/HCO (3)(-) exchangers in migrating renal epithelial cells, J. Gen. Physiol. 115 (2000) 599–608.
- [11] A. Hinton, S.R. Sennoune, S. Bond, M. Fang, M. Reuveni, G.G. Sahagian, D. Jay, R. Martinez-Zaguilan, M. Forgac, Function of a subunit isoforms of the

V-ATPase in pH homeostasis and in vitro invasion of MDA-MB231 human Breast cancer cells, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 16400–16408.

- [12] T. Nishisho, K. Hata, M. Nakanishi, Y. Morita, G.H. Sun-Wada, Y. Wada, N. Yasui, T. Yoneda, The a3 isoform vacuolar type H+-ATPase promotes distant metastasis in the mouse B16 melanoma cells, Mol. Cancer Res. 9 (2011) 845–855.
- [13] C.H. Chung, C.C. Mader, J.C. Schmitz, J. Atladottir, P. Fitchev, M.L. Cornwell, A.J. Koleske, S.E. Crawford, F. Gorelick, The vacuolar-ATPase modulates matrix metalloproteinase isoforms in human pancreatic cancer, Lab. Invest. 91 (2011) 732–743.
- [14] M. Gerlinger, C.R. Santos, B. Spencer-Dene, P. Martinez, D. Endesfelder, R.A. Burrell, M. Vetter, M. Jiang, R.E. Saunders, G. Kelly, K. Dykema, N. Rioux-Leclercq, G. Stamp, J.J. Patard, J. Larkin, M. Howell, C. Swanton, Genome-wide RNA interference analysis of renal carcinoma survival regulators identifies MCT4 as a Warburg effect metabolic target, J. Pathol. 227 (2012) 146–156.
- [15] A.T. de Oliveira, C. Pinheiro, A. Longatto-Filho, M.J. Brito, O. Martinho, D. Matos, A.L. Carvalho, V.L. Vazquez, T.B. Silva, C. Scapulatempo, S.S. Saad, R.M. Reis, F. Baltazar, Co-expression of monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) and its chaperone (CD147) is associated with low survival in patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs), J. Bioeng. Biomembr. 44 (2012) 171–178.
- [16] C. Pinheiro, A. Longatto-Filho, C. Scapulatempo, L. Ferreira, S. Martins, L. Pellerin, M. Rodrigues, V.A. Alves, F. Schmitt, F. Baltazar, Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in colorectal carcinomas, Virchows Arch. 452 (2008) 139–146.
- [17] E.J. Rios, M. Fallon, J. Wang, L.A. Shimoda, Chronic hypoxia elevates intracellular pH and activates Na+/H+ exchange in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells, Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 289 (2005) L867–L874.
- [18] S. Akram, H.F.C. Teong, L. Fliegel, S. Pervaiz, M.V. Clement, Reactive oxygen species-mediated regulation of the Na+-H+ exchanger 1 gene expression connects intracellular redox status with cells' sensitivity to death triggers, Cell Death Differ. 13 (2006) 628–641.
- [19] L.A. McLean, J. Roscoe, N.K. Jorgensen, F.A. Gorin, P.M. Cala, Malignant gliomas display altered pH regulation by NHE1 compared with nontransformed astrocytes, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 278 (2000) C676–C688.
- [20] S.J. Li, P.T. Bao, Z.K. Li, H. Ouyang, C.G. Wu, C.S. Qian, Inhibition of proliferation and apoptosis induced by a Na+/H+ exchanger-1 (NHE-1) antisense gene on drug-resistant human small cell lung cancer cells, Oncol. Rep. 21 (2009) 1243–1249.
- [21] K. Beyenbach, J. Wieczorek, The V-type H⁺ ATPase: molecular structure and function, physiological roles and regulation, J. Exp. Biol. 209 (2006) 577–589.
- [22] T. Ohta, M. Numata, H. Yagishita, F. Futagami, Y. Tsukioka, H. Kitagawa, M. Kayahara, T. Nagakawa, I. Miyazaki, M. Yamamoto, S. Iseki, S. Ohkuma, Expression of 16 kDa proteolipid of vacuolar-type H+-ATPase in human pancreatic cancer, Br. J. Cancer 73 (1996) 1511–1517.
- [23] S. Kubota, Y. Seyama, Overexpression of vacuolar ATPase 16-kDa subunit in 10T1/2 fibroblasts enhances invasion with concomitant induction of matrix metalloproteinase-2, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 278 (2000) 390–394.
- [24] G.Y. Liou, P. Storz, Reactive oxygen species in cancer, Free Radic. Res. 44 (2010) 479–496.
- [25] K. Irani, Y. Xia, J.L. Zweier, S.J. Sollott, C.J. Der, E.R. Fearon, M. Sundaresan, T. Finkel, P.J. Goldschmidt-Clermont, Mitogenic signaling mediated by oxidants in Ras-transformed fibroblasts, Science 275 (1997) 1649–1652.
- [26] P. Storz, Reactive oxygen species in tumor progression, Front. Biosci. 10 (2005) 1881–1896.
- [27] R.H. Burdon, V. Gill, C. Riceevans, Oxidative stress and tumor-cell proliferation, Free Radic. Res. Commun. 11 (1990) 65–76.
- [28] N. Kundu, S.Z. Zhang, A.M. Fulton, Sublethal oxidative stress inhibits tumor-cell adhesion and enhances experimental metastasis of murine mammary-carcinoma, Clin. Exp. Metastasis 13 (1995) 16–22.
- [29] C. Xia, Q. Meng, L.Z. Lin, Y. Rojanasakul, X.R. Wang, B.H. Jiang, Reactive oxygen species regulate angiogenesis and tumor growth through vascular endothelial growth factor, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 10823–10830.
- [30] D.R. Spitz, J.E. Sim, L.A. Ridnour, S.S. Galoforo, Y.J. Lee, Glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress in human tumor cells – a fundamental defect in metabolism? React. Oxygen Species: Radiat. Mol. Biol. 899 (2000) 349–362.
- [31] J.C. Kennedy, R.H. Pottier, Endogenous protoporphyrin-Ix, a clinically useful photosensitizer for photodynamic therapy, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B-Biol. 14 (1992) 275–292.
- [32] D. Trachootham, J. Alexandre, P. Huang, Targeting cancer cells by ROS-mediated mechanisms: a radical therapeutic approach? Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 8 (2009) 579–591.
- [33] L.J. Leon, N. Pasupuleti, F. Gorin, K.L. Carraway, A cell-permeant amiloride derivative induces caspase-independent, AIF-mediated programmed necrotic death of Breast cancer cells, PLoS One 8 (2013).
- [34] A. Diaspro, G. Chirico, M. Collini, Two-photon fluorescence excitation and related techniques in biological microscopy, Q. Rev. Biophys. 38 (2005) 97–166.
- [35] R.A. Cardone, V. Casavola, S.J. Reshkin, The role of disturbed pH dynamics and the Na+/H+ exchanger in metastasis, Nat. Rev. Cancer 5 (2005) 786–795.
- [36] S. Kohse, A. Neubauer, A. Pazidis, S. Lochbrunner, U. Kragl, Photoswitching of enzyme activity by laser-induced pH-jump, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135 (2013) 9407–9411.

- [37] P. Swietach, K.W. Spitzer, R.D. Vaughan-Jones, pH-dependence of extrinsic and intrinsic H+-ion mobility in the rat ventricular myocyte, investigated using flash photolysis of a caged-H+ compound, Biophys. J. 92 (2007) 641-653.
- [38] C.R.M. Ravindran, J.N. Bayne, S.C. Bravo, T. Busby, C.N. Crain, J.A. Escobedo, K. Gresham, B.J. O'Grady, L. Rios, S. Roy, M.J. Gdovin, Intracellular acidosis and pH regulation in central respiratory chemoreceptors, J. Health Care Poor Underserved 22 (2011) 174–186.
- [39] Z. Jordan, B. O'Grady, H. Hazlett, E. Frias, A. Cruz, S. Holliday, J.C. Leiter, M.J. Gdovin, Light-activated intracellular acidosis causes death in cancerous and non-cancerous cell lines, Nat. Cell Biol. (2017), submitted for publication.
- [40] R. Andrade, L. Crisol, R. Prado, M.D. Boyano, J. Arluzea, J. Arechaga, Plasma membrane and nuclear envelope integrity during the blebbing stage of apoptosis: a time-lapse study, Biol. Cell 102 (2010) 25–35.
- [41] Y.H. Yi, Y.S. Chang, C.H. Lin, T.S. Lew, C.Y. Tang, W.L. Tseng, C.P. Tseng, S.J. Lo, Integrin-mediated membrane blebbing is dependent on sodium-proton exchanger 1 and sodium-calcium exchanger 1 activity, J. Biol. Chem. 287 (2012) 10316–10324.
- [42] J.C. Boyer, F. Vetrone, L.A. Cuccia, J.A. Capobianco, Synthesis of colloidal upconverting NaYF₄ nanocrystals doped with Er³⁺, Yb³⁺ and Tm³⁺, Yb³⁺ via thermal decomposition of lanthanide trifluoroacetate precursors, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (2006) 7444–7445.
- [43] T. Jiang, W.P. Qin, W.H. Di, R.Y. Yang, D.M. Liu, X.S. Zhai, G.S. Qin, Citric acid-assisted hydrothermal synthesis of alpha-NaYF4:Yb3+,Tm3+ nanocrystals and their enhanced ultraviolet upconversion emissions, CrystEngComm 14 (2012) 2302–2307.
- [44] K.W. Kramer, D. Biner, G. Frei, H.U. Gudel, M.P. Hehlen, S.R. Luthi, Hexagonal sodium yttrium fluoride based green and blue emitting upconversion phosphors, Chem. Mater. 16 (2004) 1244–1251.
- [45] N. Niu, F. He, S.L. Gai, C.X. Li, X. Zhang, S.H. Huang, P.P. Yang, Rapid microwave reflux process for the synthesis of pure hexagonal NaYF4:Yb3+,Ln(3 +),Bi3+ (Ln(3 +)=Er3+, Tm3+, Ho3 +) and its enhanced UC luminescence, J. Mater. Chem. 22 (2012) 21613–21623.
- [46] F. Shi, J.S. Wang, X.S. Zhai, D. Zhao, W.P. Qin, Facile synthesis of beta-NaLuF4:Yb/Tm hexagonal nanoplates with intense ultraviolet upconversion luminescence, CrystEngComm 13 (2011) 3782–3787.
- [47] Y.Z. Min, J.M. Li, F. Liu, P. Padmanabhan, E.K.L. Yeow, B.G. Xing, Recent advance of biological molecular imaging based on lanthanide-doped upconversion-luminescent nanomaterials, Nanomaterials 4 (2014) 129–154.
- [48] F.J. Barrera, B. Yust, L.C. Mimun, K.L. Nash, A.T. Tsin, D.K. Sardar, Optical and spectroscopic properties of human whole blood and plasma with and without Y2O3 and Nd3+: Y2O3 nanoparticles, Lasers Med. Sci. 28 (2013) 1559–1566.
- [49] K.L. Nash, R.C. Dennis, J.B. Gruber, D.K. Sardar, Intensity analysis and energy-level modeling of Nd3+ in Nd3+:Y2O3 nanocrystals in polymeric hosts, J. Appl. Phys. 105 (2009).
- [50] K.L. Nash, R.C. Dennis, N.J. Ray, J.B. Gruber, D.K. Sardara, Absorption intensities, emission cross sections, and crystal field analysis of selected intermanifold transitions of Ho3+ in Ho3+:Y2O3 nanocrystals, J. Appl. Phys. 106 (2009).
- [51] D.K. Chatterjee, A.J. Rufaihah, Y. Zhang, Upconversion fluorescence imaging of cells and small animals using lanthanide doped nanocrystals, Biomaterials 29 (2008) 937–943.
- [52] H. Kobayashi, N. Kosaka, M. Ogawa, N.Y. Morgan, P.D. Smith, C.B. Murray, X.C. Ye, J. Collins, G.A. Kumar, H. Bell, P.L. Choyke, In vivo multiple color lymphatic imaging using upconverting nanocrystals, J. Mater. Chem. 19 (2009) 6481–6484.
- [53] C.X. Li, J. Lin, Rare earth fluoride nano-/microcrystals: synthesis, surface modification and application, J. Mater. Chem. 20 (2010) 6831–6847.
- [54] C. Mi, Z. Tian, C. Cao, Z. Wang, C. Mao, S. Xu, Novel microwave-assisted solvothermal synthesis of NaYF4:Yb,Er upconversion nanoparticles and their application in cancer cell imaging, Langmuir 27 (2011) 14632–14637.
- [55] H. Zhang, Y. Li, Y. Lin, Y. Huang, X. Duan, Composition tuning the upconversion emission in NaYF4: Yb/Tm hexaplate nanocrystals, Nanoscale 3 (2011) 963–966.
- [56] M. Muthiah, I.K. Park, C.S. Cho, Surface modification of iron oxide nanoparticles by biocompatible polymers for tissue imaging and targeting, Biotechnol. Adv. 31 (2013) 1224–1236.
- [57] U. Sakulkhu, M. Mahmoudi, L. Maurizi, G. Coullerez, M. Hofmann-Amtenbrink, M. Vries, M. Motazacker, F. Rezaee, H. Hofmann, Significance of surface charge and shell material of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle (SPION) based core/shell nanoparticles on the composition of the protein corona, Biomater. Sci. 3 (2015) 265–278.
- [58] M.S. Segal, E. Beem, Effect of pH, ionic charge, and osmolality on cytochrome c-mediated caspase-3 activity, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 281 (2001) C1196–C11204.
- [59] D. Liu, G. Martino, M. Thangaraju, M. Sharma, F. Halwani, S.H. Shen, Y.C. Patel, C.B. Srikant, Caspase-8-mediated intracellular acidification precedes mitochondrial dysfunction in somatostatin-induced apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 9244–9250.
- [60] S. Matsuyama, J. Llopis, Q.L. Deveraux, R.Y. Tsien, J.C. Reed, Changes in intramitochondrial and cytosolic pH: early events that modulate caspase activation during apoptosis, Nat. Cell Biol. 2 (2000) 318–325.
- [61] S.W.G. Tait, D.R. Green, Caspase-independent cell death: leaving the set without the final cut, Oncogene 27 (2008) 6452–6461.
- [62] C. Brooks, P. Ketsawatsomkron, Y. Sui, J.Z. Wang, C.Y. Wang, F.S. Yu, Z. Dong, Acidic pH inhibits ATP depletion-induced tubular cell apoptosis by blocking

caspase-9 activation in apoptosome, Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 289 (2005) F410-F419.

- [63] A.R. Khaled, K. Kim, R. Hofmeister, K. Muegge, S.K. Durum, Withdrawal of IL-7 induces Bax translocation from cytosol to mitochondria through a rise in intracellular pH, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (1999) 14476–14481.
- [64] K. Sharma, C.B. Srikant, G protein coupled receptor signaled apoptosis is associated with activation of a cation insensitive acidic endonuclease and intracellular acidification, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 242 (1998) 134–140.
- [65] M. Thangaraju, K. Sharma, B. Leber, D.W. Andrews, S.H. Shen, C.B. Srikant, Regulation of acidification and apoptosis by SHP-1 and Bcl-2, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 29549–29557.
- [66] M. Thangaraju, K. Sharma, D.N. Liu, S.H. Shen, C.B. Srikant, Interdependent regulation of intracellular acidification and SHP-1 in apoptosis, Cancer Res. 59 (1999) 1649–1654.
- [67] M. Tafani, J.A. Cohn, N.O. Karpinich, R.J. Rothman, M.A. Russo, J.L. Farber, Regulation of intracellular pH mediates Bax activation in HeLa cells treated with staurosporine or tumor necrosis factor-alpha, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 49569–49576.